RECEIVED
JUL 10 2014
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Richland County
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001115

Kristin Joseph P.T., Thomas N. Joseph M.D., and
William G. McCarthy, M.D., Appellants,

v.

South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation,
South Carolina Board of Physical Therapy, Respondents,

and

South Carolina Chapter, American Physical Therapy Association,
Joseph M. McKowen, PT, Sabrina Queen Bridges, PTA, and
Amalia W. Kirby, (PTA), Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

M. Elizabeth Crum, S.C. Bar No. 1486
lcum@mcnair.net

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

SHOULD THE SUPREME COURT REVERSE ITS DECISION IN SLOAN V. SOUTH CAROLINA BOARD OF PHYSICAL THERAPY EXAMINERS, 370 S.C. 452, 469, 636 S.E.2d 598 (2006), HOLDING THAT SECTION 40-45-110(A)(1) PROHIBITS A PHYSICAL THERAPIST FROM BEING EMPLOYED BY AND RECEIVING AND TREATING PATIENTS REFERRED BY A PHYSICIAN OR A PHYSICIAN'S GROUP?

SHOULD THE SUPREME COURT REVERSE ITS DECISION IN SLOAN V. SOUTH CAROLINA BOARD OF PHYSICAL THERAPY EXAMINERS THAT SECTION 40-45-110(A)(1), DOES NOT VIOLATE THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSES OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION, ART. I, SEC. 3, AND THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AMEND. XIV, SEC. 1, BY CLASSIFYING PHYSICAL THERAPISTS DIFFERENTLY THAN ALL OTHER SOUTH CAROLINA LICENSED HEALTH CARE PROVIDERS FOR PROHIBITED REFERRALS?

SECTION 40-45-110(A)(1), AS INTERPRETED IN SLOAN, VIOLATES THE SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS CLAUSES OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSTITUTION, ART. I, SEC. 3, AND THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AMEND. XIV, SEC. 1, BY DENYING PHYSICAL THERAPISTS THE RIGHT TO BE EMPLOYED BY THE EMPLOYER OF THEIR CHOOSING.

THE PT BOARD'S 2011 POSITION STATEMENT IS CONTRARY TO THE PLAIN MEANING OF S.C. CODE ANN. § 40-45-110(A)(1), EXCEEDS THE PT BOARD'S STATUTORY AUTHORITY, AND CONSTITUTES AN *ULTRA VIRES* ACT.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the lower court's granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment regarding the efficacy of the Respondent South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation, South Carolina Board of Physical Therapy's ("Respondent Board") August 17, 2011 adoption of the "Application of 40-45-110(A)(1) to Intra-Professional Interactions" ("2011 Position Statement") interpreting S.C. Code Ann. § 40-45-110(A)(1) of the Physical Therapy Act ("PT Act"). (R. ___, Ex. 1 to Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment (hereinafter "Ex.")).

Kristin Joseph P.T. ("PT Joseph"), Thomas N. Joseph, M.D. ("MD Joseph"), and William G. McCarthy, M.D ("MD McCarthy") (collectively "Appellants"), on April 12, 2012, filed their Declaratory Judgment Action/Complaint ("Complaint") with the Clerk of Court for Richland County and served the Complaint on the Respondent Board. Appellants' first six causes of action requested a declaratory judgment that the Respondent Board's adoption of the 2011 Position Statement permitting physical therapists (PT) to refer patients to other PTs or PT assistants (PTA) (PTs and PTAs are collectively referred to as "Licensed Persons") employed by the referring PT or his/her physical therapy group is contrary to the plain language of the statute, exceeds the agency's authority, in violation of Appellants' state and federal constitutional rights to due process and equal protection, in violation of the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act ("APA") and, alternatively, if the "coverage" exception is a proper interpretation of § 40-45-110(A)(1), it should be applied equally to physician and physician owned practices. Causes of Action Seven through Nine sought to argue against

the precedent set in Sloan.

On May 25, 2012, Respondent Board filed its Answer and a Motion to Dismiss. The Answer denied each cause of action, contended that Appellants did not present a valid, justifiable controversy and that Plaintiffs' claims were not ripe and Sloan was dispositive of the action.

The Motion to Dismiss was argued on August 7, 2012, before the Honorable Judge G. Thomas Cooper Jr. During argument, counsel for Appellants conceded that the lower court did not have the authority to overturn the Sloan decision. The Order denying the motion as to the first six causes of action and granting partial summary judgment as causes of action seven through nine was entered and filed¹ on December 4, 2012. (R. __). Respondent Board moved for reconsideration pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, (R. __) which motion was denied by order dated January 9, 2013. (R. __).

On May 2, 2013, South Carolina Chapter, American Physical Therapy Association ("SCAPTA") and three individuals, Joseph M. McKowen, PT, Sabrina Queen Bridges, PTA, and Amalia W. Kirby, PTA, (collectively "Individual Respondents") (collectively referred to as APTA Respondents") filed a Motion to Intervene. (R. __). Appellants and on May 13, 2013 filed their proposed Answer (R. __) raising the same defenses and affirmative defenses as raised by Respondent Board. Thereafter, Appellants and Respondent Board consented, and on June 11, 2013, the order granting intervention was entered. Pursuant to a consent order, dated July 1, 2013, Appellants filed their Amended Declaratory Judgment/Complaint. (R. __).

The parties filed summary judgment motions, Appellants on November 1, 2013

¹ Per Judge Cooper's request, the parties filed proposed orders on August 24 and Judge Cooper sent his executed order denying the Motion to Dismiss to the Clerk's office on September 17, 2012. However, due to what appears to be a clerical error, the order was not entered and filed until December 4, 2012.

(R. __), Respondent Board on November 7, 2013 (R. __), and SCAPTA Respondent on November 14, 2013 (R. __). On December 13, each of the parties filed their respective memoranda in support of their motions (R. __, R. __, R. __) and on January 10, 2014, the parties filed their respective memoranda in opposition to the other parties' motions. (R. __, R. __, R. __, R. __).

On January 16, 2014, the lower court heard argument on the cross-motions for Summary Judgment and on April 22, 2014, Judge Cooper entered an Order Granting Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment and Denying Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment, received on April 28, 2014. (R. __). Appellants filed a SCRCR Rule 59 Motion to Reconsider, Alter, or Amend on May 8, 2014 (R. __), APTA Respondents opposed the Motion (R. __) and the court denied the motion on May 14, 2014 (R. __).

Appellants filed Notice of Appeal on May 23, 2014. On June 16, 2014, Appellants requested from the Court of Appeals an extension until July 10, 2014 to file their Initial Brief and Designation of Matter, which was granted on June 25, 2014.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises from the Respondent Board's 2011 Position Statement interpretation the fee for referral prohibition contained in S.C. Code Ann. § 40-45-110(A)(1) as being inapplicable to individual PTs or associated PT groups employment of other PTs or PTA. Section 40-45-110(A)(1) allows the Board to take disciplinary action against a physical therapist who

requests, receives, participates, or engages directly or indirectly in the dividing, transferring, assigning, rebating, or refunding of fees received for professional services or profits by means of a credit or other valuable consideration including, but not limited to, wages, an unearned commission, discount, or gratuity with a person who referred a patient, or with a relative or business associate of the referring person.

S.C. Code Ann. § 40-45-110(A)(1) (emphasis added). This is the second time that the Board has adopted a position statement regarding its interpretation of Section 40-45-110(A)(1). The Respondent Board first adopted a position statement, adopting S.C. Atty. Gen. Op. dated March 30, 2004 (2004 WL 736934) (2004 Position Statement) concluding that a PT would in violation of Section 40-45-110(A)(1) if he/she was employed by a physician or physician groups and accepted wages for treatment of patients referred by the employing physician or group. The 2004 Position Statement was subject to a declaratory judgment action in the Sloan case. The AG Opinion addressed two specific questions concerning the use of the word “person” in S.C. Code Ann. § 40-45-110(A)(1) as it relates to physicians. It opined first that physicians were persons within the meaning of the PT Act and second that PTs could not be employed by physicians or physician groups and receive wages to treat patients referred by the physician or group for physical therapy services.

In a split decision, the Supreme Court interpreted the PT Act to prohibit a physician from referring patients to a physical therapist or physical therapy assistant the physician or his group employed. Sloan, 370 S.C. 468, 636 S.E.2d 606. Sloan did not address the issue of whether a PT is a “person” within the meaning of the § 40-45-110(A)(1) employment/referral prohibition and whether a PT is prohibited from being employed by and receiving referrals from another PT.

In 2011 Mr. Jim Stoker, then president of Respondent SCAPTA found out that the South Carolina Orthopaedic Association was seeking an Attorney General’s opinion as to whether the word “person” in § 40-45-110(A)(1) is equally applicable to PTs as it is to physicians, thus prohibiting PTs being employed by and receiving referrals from other

PT, their relatives or groups they are associated with (collectively known as ‘PT Owned Groups’ or “PTOG”). Stoker had a conversation with Mr. Jack Bennett, General Counsel of the American Physical Therapy Association (“APTA”). (R. __, Ex. 21, Tr. p. 61). Mr. Stoker contemporaneously summarized his conversation with Mr. Bennett, which provides, in part:

The word referral is mentioned a few times in the practice act and the forwarding of a patient from one PT to another within the same practice may be interpreted as a referral. The work “person” is defined in the initial section of the practice act and essentially means flesh and blood and therefore would not be construed as a corporation. Therefore, there may be a through process that could interpret “person’ as another PT.

The discussion centered around the possibility that referral could be considered only inter-professional and not intra-professional, thereby applying to MD to PT and not PT to PT.

(R. __ (emphasis added) Ex. 27). Mr. Stoker and Mr. Bennett discussed four (4) options for dealing with the SCOA opinion request regarding § 40-45-110(A)(1), including: 1) dealing directly with the Attorney General; 2) getting the Board to issue another Position Statement; 3) initiating a complaint against an employed PT that the Board would investigate and rule on; and 4) getting the Board to issue a regulation. *Id.*

SCAPTA/APTA recruited a S. C. licensed PT, Robert Carpenter, PT, ATC, CSCS, to submit a letter that Mr. Bennett wrote, to the Board Chairman requesting the Board to issue a position statement regarding the two questions pending before the Attorney General concerning the application of “person” in § 40-45-110(A)(1) to PTs. (R. __, Ex. 27, pp. 3-5). The two questions were whether § 40-45-110(A)(1) prohibited: 1) a licensed person from working for pay for a PT referring patients to the licensed person; and 2) a licensed person from working for pay for professional corporation owned by one or more PTs who refer patients to the employed PT. (R. __, Ex. 3, p. 1)

On May 3, 2011, Carpenter sent a series of letters, first submitted on behalf of SCAPTA (R. ___, Ex. 29) and finally on his own behalf, as instructed by SCAPTA, (R. ___, Ex. 3) to the Board Chairman requesting the 2011 Position Statement. (R. ___, Ex. 17, Tr. pp. 38–44). Carpenter notified Stoker and Bennett that he had sent the letter to the Board. (R. ___, Ex. 30). After receipt of the Carpenter position statement request, the Board Chairman e-mailed Stoker asking if he knew Carpenter had e-mailed the request (on behalf of the SCAPTA) and then withdrawn it, to which Stoker answered “yes”. (R. ___, Ex. 27, pp. 10-11).

On June 2, 2011, Respondent Board Chairman Marilyn Swygert responded to the Carpenter Letter with a letter titled “Application of S.C. Code Ann. Sec. 40-45-110(A)(1) to Intra-Professional Interactions” (Swygert Letter). (R. ___, Ex. 4; R. ___, Ex. 17, Tr. pp. 39–40; and R. ___, Ex. 31). The Swygert Letter did not focus on whether a PT was a person within the meaning of the PT Act, as the Court had in Sloan but focused on the meaning of “referral” within the Act. *Id.* E. Dargan Ervin, Jr. was the only Board member Swygert consulted prior to sending her letter. (R. ___, Ex. 17, Tr. p. 45; R. ___, Ex. 18, Ervin Depo Tr., pp. 10–11; R. ___, Ex. 32, p. 2). Ervin called outside counsel, Monteith P. Todd, Esquire to assist with Swygert’s response to the Carpenter Letter. (R. ___, Ex. 17, Tr. pp. 32–33; R. ___, Ex. 18, Tr. p. 30). Mr. Todd was paid from the South Carolina Board of Physical Therapy Legal Defense Fund² for his assistance with the Swygert Letter. *Id.*; See also, (R. ___, Ex. 34, letter dated May 24, 2013 from Monteith P. Todd to M. Elizabeth Crum).

² In 2004, the Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation (LLR) refused to approve Board or LLR funds to be used to hire outside counsel. (R. ___, Ex. 35). This fund is a 501(c)(6) fund set up by the Board in order to raise money for to hire outside counsel. *Id.* We ask the this Court to take judicial notice of 26 USC § 501(C)(6) and the fact that a 501(C)(6) must be established for the purpose of “[B]usiness leagues, chambers of commerce, real-estate boards, boards of trade, or professional football leagues”.

On July 14, 2011, the PT Board met in public session and the Swygert Letter was presented to the Board under the heading “Intra-Professional Relations”. (R. ___, Ex. 5). The Board voted to adopt the Swygert Letter and to turn it into “frequently asked questions” to be posted on the Board’s LLR website. (R. ___, Ex. 17, Tr. p. 50). The topic “Intra-Professional Relations” was again on the Board’s agenda for its August 17, 2011 meeting. (R. ___, Ex. 6). At the August 17, 2011 Board meeting, the Board adopted the Swygert Letter as the 2011 Position Statement, for the second time interpreting the PT Act to prohibit physicians from employing PTs and referring patients to them and prohibiting PTs from being employed by physicians while allowing PTs and PTOG to employ licensed persons. *Id.* The 2011 Position Statement determined, *inter alia*:

The purpose of Sec. 40-45-110(A)(1) is to “protect consumers as well as government-sponsored health care programs such as Medicare and Medicaid from actual and potential conflicts of interest which are likely to lead to overuse of medical services by physicians who, for their own financial gain rather than their patient’s medical needs, refer patients to entities in which the physicians hold financial interest.”³ (sic) ...

In a group practice, a physical therapist or a physical therapist assistant providing services to a patient of that practice should not fall within this definition of a "referral". The physical therapist or physical therapist assistant seeing a patient at the request of another physical therapist in the same group does not constitute a "referral", but is rather a physical therapist or physical therapist assistant providing coverage either within the 30-day window or pursuant to the same referral from a physician or other member of the group. ... Having other physical therapists or physical therapist assistants in the same group covering for each other should not constitute a referral and should not violate § 40-45-110(A)(1).

Id. (R. ___, Ex. 4).

Appellant PT Joseph is licensed by the Board to practice physical therapy. (R. ___, Ex. 7 and R. ___, 8.) and is subject to the requirements of the PT Act. Appellants Dr. Joseph and

³ While not cited, the quotation is taken directly from Sloan. See: Sloan 370 S.C. at 469, 636 S.E.2d at 607, excepting the quote omits the word “a” before “financial interest.”

Dr. McCarthy are South Carolina licensed orthopaedic surgeon, Diplomates, American Board of Orthopaedic Surgeons, and provide medical services to their patients through their respective practices, Camden Bone & Joint, LLC. (R. ___, Ex. 10; R. ___, Ex. 11, Tr. p. 9). and Carolina Orthopaedic Surgery Associates, PA (R. ___, Ex. 12; R. ___, Ex. 13, Tr. pp. 6-7). Drs. Joseph and McCarthy treat patients through provider agreements with: 1) the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) to provide Title XVIII of the Social Security Act (Medicare) services to Medicare patients; 2) the South Carolina Department of Health and Human Services (“SCDHHS”) to provide Medicaid services to Medicaid patients; and 3) with numerous other third party payors. (R. ___, Ex. 13, Tr. pp. 11–12, 14–16; R. ___, Ex. 14, ¶ 2). Appellant physicians’ medical licenses authorize them to provide and they do physical therapy services to patients as part of their practice. (R. ___, Ex. 11, pp. 10–13; R. ___, Ex. 14, ¶ 3; R. ___, Ex. 13, pp. 12–13; 21–22). Dr. McCarthy and Carolina Orthopaedic Surgery Associates, PA employed South Carolina licensed PTs until the Sloan case was decided and the practice was forced to terminate the PTs’ employment. (R. ___, Ex. 13, pp. 8–10).

ARGUMENT

I. The South Carolina Supreme Court in Sloan v. South Carolina Board of Physical Therapy Examiners, 370 S.C. 452, 469, 636 S.E.2d 598 (2006), Incorrectly Interpreted Section 40-45-110(A)(1) to Prohibit a Physical Therapist From Being Employed by and Receiving and Treating Patients Referred By a Physician or a Physician’s Group.

The Supreme Court’s interpretation of S.C. Code Ann. § 40-45-110(A)(1) to prohibit an employment arrangement between a physician or physician group and a PT or PTA ignores the purpose of the statute, which is to regulate unethical behavior on the part

of PTs or PTAs. Further, it creates an absurd situation where only employment relationships between physicians and PTs are prohibited.

“The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to determine and effectuate the intention of the Legislature.” Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). Where the plain and ordinary meaning of the words used in a statute “would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not possibly have been intended by the Legislature or would defeat the plain legislative intention,” the courts will reject that meaning. Kiriakides v. United Artists Commc'ns, Inc., 312 S.C. 271, 275, 440 S.E.2d 364, 366 (1994). Because statutes dealing with the same subject matter are *in pari materia*, to resolve a statute’s ambiguity, courts should read them together to produce a single, harmonious result, if possible. Sloan, 370 S.C. at 487, 636 S.E.2d at 616 (Toal, C.J. dissenting). “The words of the statute must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation. Hitachi Data Sys. Corp. v. Leatherman, 309 S.C. 174, 178, 420 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1992).” Catawba Indian Tribe of South Carolina v. State of South Carolina, 372 S.C. 519, 525-526, 642 S.E.2d 751, 754 (2007) “In construing statutory language, the statute must be read as a whole and sections which are a part of the same general statutory law must be construed together and each one given effect. TNS Mills, Inc. v. South Carolina Dept. of Revenue, 331 S.C. 611, 503 S.E.2d 471 (1998). A statute should not be construed by concentrating on an isolated phrase. Laurens County School Districts 55 and 56 v. Cox, 308 S.C. 171, 417 S.E.2d 560 (1992).” South Carolina State Ports Authority v. Jasper County, 368 SC 388, 398, 629 SE2d 624, 629 (2006).

Section 40-45-110(A)(1) allows the Board to take disciplinary action against a physical therapist who

requests, receives, participates, or engages directly or indirectly in the dividing, transferring, assigning, rebating, or refunding of fees received for professional services or profits by means of a credit or other valuable consideration including, but not limited to, wages, an unearned commission, discount, or gratuity with a person who referred a patient, or with a relative or business associate of the referring person.

S.C. Code Ann. § 40-45-110(A)(1) (emphasis added). The legislative intent in enacting Section 40-45-110(A)(1) is to regulate the ethical behavior (“the board, ..., may restrict or refuse to grant a license to an applicant and may refuse to renew the licensed of a licensed person, and may suspend, revoke, or otherwise restrict the licensed of a licensed person” *Id.*) of PTs and PTAs and to prohibit fee for service arrangements that encourage overutilization of or provision of unnecessary physical therapy services that increase the cost of health care to the public and government payors and there is no statutory basis to limit this fee for service prohibition just to employing physicians.

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