THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED
OCT 27 2014

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas

S.C. Supreme Court

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Presiding Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001115

Kristin Joseph P.T., Thomas N. Joseph M.D.,
and William G. McCarthy, M.D.,.....Appellants,

v.

South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing
and Regulation, South Carolina Board of Physical
Therapy,.....Respondent,

and

South Carolina Chapter, American Physical
Therapy Association, Joseph M. McKowen, PT,
Sabrina Queen Bridges, PTA, and Amalia W. Kirby, PTA,.....Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Monteith P. Todd
SOWELL GRAY STEPP & LAFFITTE, L.L.C.
1310 Gadsen Street

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

Even if her claims were justiciable, Mrs. Joseph would not be able to show that she was arbitrarily and capriciously deprived of a cognizable property interest. *See Sunset Cay*, 357 S.C. at 430, 593 S.E.2d at 470. Although an individual has a right to practice her chosen profession, the exercise of that right is subject to the Legislature's police power to enact statutes and regulations aimed at enhancing the public welfare. *See*

Dantzler v. Callison, 230 S.C. 75, 92-96, 94 S.E.2d 177, 186-88 (1956). Thus, where a restriction bears a reasonable relationship to any legitimate interest of government, substantive due process has not been violated. *See id.* Appellants suggest that this is not the standard, but they are wrong. Just last year, this Court reaffirmed that, “[i]n reviewing substantive due process challenges,” courts must consider whether the legislation “bears a reasonable relationship to any legitimate interest of government.” *Dunes West Golf Club, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 401 S.C. 280, 296, 737 S.E.2d 601, 609 (2013).⁷

As this Court properly recognized in *Sloan*, “[t]he statute prohibiting employment relationships between physicians and physical therapists bears a reasonable relationship to a legitimate interest of government,” namely to prevent “overuse of medical services.” 370 S.C. at 479-80, 484, 636 S.E.2d at 612-13, 615. The Legislature was thus “within its power to regulate the practices of medicine and physical therapy” and “has not engaged in an arbitrary or wrongful act in enacting the statute.” *Id.*

For all these reasons, there is no reason for the Court to overturn *Sloan*.

II. The Circuit Court’s Dismissal of Appellants’ Claims Challenging the 2011 Position Statement Should Be Affirmed.

This appeal makes a remarkable turn when it comes to the Appellants’ claims regarding the Board’s 2011 Position Statement, in which the Board stated its belief that

⁷ Appellants here, like the *Sloan* appellants, point to S.C. Code § 40-1-10 and argue that the Legislature improperly exercised its police power by enacting § 40-45-110(A)(1) because the referral restrictions therein are not “necessary for the preservation of the health, safety, and welfare of the public.” Appellants’ Br. 25. But Appellants cite no case, and Respondents are aware of none, where this *statute*, § 40-1-10, has been applied to alter this Court’s *constitutional* analysis of a due process challenge to another statute passed by the Legislature. In any event, the Legislature determined that § 40-45-110(A)(1) was necessary to “avoid overuse of medical services.” *Sloan*, 370 S.C. at 482-84, 636 S.E.2d at 614-15. As recognized in *Sloan*, this was a reasonable exercise of the Legislature’s police power to “enact statutes and regulations aimed at enhancing the public welfare in the practice of medicine and related professions.” *Id.*

§ 40-45-110(A)(1) does not prohibit the transition of patients from one PT to another PT or from PTs to PTAs working within the same group practice. In seeking to overturn *Sloan*, Appellants want § 40-45-110(A)(1) substantially narrowed—or eliminated altogether as unconstitutional—so that physicians can employ PTs. In challenging the 2011 Position Statement, the Appellants about-face and ask the Court to adopt an absurd interpretation of § 40-45-110(A)(1) that would prevent PTs from working together in group practice. Specifically, the Appellants seek a declaration that “the PT Board must discipline PTs for entering into employment arrangements with physical therapists and entities owned in whole or in part by a physical therapist.” Am. Compl. ¶ 45 (R. p. 88); *see also id.* at ¶ 50 (R. p. 89); *id.* at 21, Relief Sought ¶ 3 (R. p. 97). Appellants offer no valid argument or evidence to suggest that the General Assembly enacted § 40-45-110(A)(1) in order to outlaw the group practice of physical therapy.

Even a cursory reading of the statute makes it clear that the referral restrictions in § 40-45-110(A)(1) are aimed at the gatekeeping referrals of physicians and not at the PT-to-PT and PT-to-PTA hand-offs of patients that must routinely occur in the group practice of physical therapy. As discussed above and below, having given physicians the keys to physical therapy care in § 40-45-110(A)(4), the Legislature enacted § 40-45-110(A)(1) to prevent physicians from making money by making the statutorily required referrals, thereby limiting the potential for overuse of physical therapy services. *Sloan*, 370 S.C. at 469, 636 S.E.2d at 607; *see also id.* at 482, 614. Appellants provide no reason why the Legislature would have intended the referral restrictions in § 40-45-110(A)(1) to prohibit the group practice of physical therapy. To Respondents’ knowledge, no state has ever enacted—or even considered—legislation to ban the group

practice of physical therapy. Nor do Appellants explain why, if it intended to ban the group practice of physical therapy, the Legislature did not say so directly.

In *Sloan*, this Court determined that § 40-45-110(A)(1) was enacted to limit overuse of physical therapy services. Preventing PTs and PTAs from working together in group practice would do nothing to further that purpose. Appellants have presented no evidence that PTs can wring more treatment (and thus more money) out of a patient just by handing the patient off to a PT colleague in their practice or their employ. There is no evidence that PTs send or direct patients to other PTs in their group in order to establish a new plan of care or create additional care. To the contrary, it is physicians—not PTs—who write the referrals and are the gatekeepers with respect to the breadth and frequency of physical therapy services.

This is not to say that PTs are somehow immune from the temptation to over-treat patients. Rather, there is simply no reason—and certainly no evidence—to believe that a patient going to a group physical therapy practice is any more likely to be over-treated than a patient going to a PT in solo practice. Appellants' proposed ban on the group practice of physical therapy thus does nothing to further the Legislature's goal of limiting the overuse of physical therapy services.

While Appellants' proposed interpretation of § 40-45-110(A)(1) does nothing to further the Legislature's goal, it would produce many harmful effects not intended by the Legislature. Forcing PTs to practice by themselves instead of in groups not only harms PTs, it also increases health care costs and restricts patient access to physical therapy services. Appellants' requested interpretation also would effectively legislate PTAs out of existence in South Carolina, eliminating a licensed position authorized in detail by the

PT Act. This result would not only devastate thousands of licensed PTAs, it would also further increase health care costs and restrict patient access to physical therapy services. Appellants' proposed interpretation of § 40-45-110(A)(1) thus would do nothing to advance legislative intent, but instead would produce absurd results that would harm PTs, PTAs, patients and taxpayers. Indeed, it appears that Appellants are seeking these harmful results intentionally and in furtherance of their efforts to get rid of § 40-45-110(A)(1) so as to allow POPTS.

The Appellants seek this harmful interpretation of the § 40-45-110(A)(1) by challenging the Board's 2011 Position Statement. As a threshold matter, the Appellants have no standing to bring legal claims with respect to the 2011 Position Statement, which has no force of law and does not affect Appellants. The 2011 Position Statement does not prevent the Appellants from doing anything, and a ruling invalidating the 2011 Position Statement would not provide the Appellants with any relief. To the contrary, the construction of the PT Act that actually has caused the Appellants their alleged harm was this Court's decision eight years ago in *Sloan*. For this reason, and as explained below, Appellants' claims challenging the 2011 Position Statement should be dismissed for lack of standing and the lower court's judgment affirmed.

A. Appellants Lack Standing to Challenge the 2011 Position Statement.

Although the circuit court denied Respondents' motions to dismiss for lack of standing,⁸ standing is a question of law, subject to de novo review by this Court on appeal. *See Doe v. Bishop of Charleston*, 407 S.C. 128, 134, 754 S.E.2d 494, 497 (2014)

⁸ Respondents sought dismissal for lack of standing both on motion to dismiss, *see* Board's Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss 7-17, and in their summary judgment motions, *see* Board's Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J. 8-13 (R. pp. 189-94), Def.-Intervenors' Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J. 9 n.4 (R. p. 168). The circuit court declined to dismiss Appellants' claims for lack of standing. *See* Dec. 4, 2012 Order (R. pp.16-17); Apr. 22, 2014 Order at 22 (R. p. 282).

“Questions of law are reviewed *de novo*.”); *cf. Peterson v. Nat’l Telecomms. & Info. Admin.*, 478 F.3d 626, 631 (4th Cir. 2007) (“[S]tanding is a question of law that we review *de novo*.”); *Covenant Media of S.C., L.L.C. v. City of N. Charleston*, 493 F.3d 421, 428 (4th Cir. 2007), *cert. denied*, 552 U.S. 1100 (2008) (applying *de novo* review to district court’s legal conclusions regarding standing).⁹

The three required elements to establish standing are: an injury in fact, a causal connection, and likelihood that a favorable decision would give relief. *Sea Pines Ass’n for the Prot. of Wildlife, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Natural Res.*, 345 S.C. 594, 601, 550 S.E.2d 287, 291 (2001); *see also ATC South, Inc. v. Charleston Cnty.*, 380 S.C. 191, 195, 669 S.E.2d 337, 339 (2008). These three elements create the “irreducible constitutional minimum of standing.” *Sea Pines Ass’n*, 550 S.E.2d at 291. The party bringing suit bears the burden of demonstrating each of these three elements. *Id.*

Appellants have not—and cannot—meet any of these elements with respect to their claims challenging the 2011 Position Statement. Neither the PT Appellant, Mrs. Joseph, nor the physician Appellants, Drs. Joseph and McCarthy, face any current or threatened injury attributable to the 2011 Position Statement. Their real grievance is that, under the PT Act and *Sloan*, PTs may not be employed by physicians and physicians may not employ PTs. The 2011 Position Statement is not the source of this prohibition, and Appellants’ challenges to it will neither enable Mrs. Joseph to work for a physician’s

⁹ On appeal, this Court may affirm the circuit court’s grant of summary judgment in favor of the Respondents on any basis appearing in the record. *See* Rule 220(c), SCACR (“The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.”); Rule 208(b)(2), SCACR (“Respondent’s brief may also contain argument asking the court to affirm for any ground appearing on the record as provided by Rule 220(c).”); *see also State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 446, 710 S.E.2d 55, 59 n.1 (2011).

practice, nor enable Drs. Joseph and McCarthy to hire PTs. Appellants thus have no standing.

1. Appellants cannot establish any injury in fact.

To establish injury in fact, a plaintiff must have suffered an invasion of a legally-protected interest that is both (a) concrete and particularized, and (b) actual or imminent and not conjectural or hypothetical. *ATC South*, 669 S.E.2d at 339. With respect to challenges to governmental action, “[a] private person does not have standing unless *he has sustained, or is in immediate danger of sustaining, prejudice* from an executive or legislative action.” *Sea Pines*, 550 S.E.2d at 291 (emphasis added); *see also ATC South*, 669 S.E.2d at 339. “Such imminent prejudice must be of a *personal nature to the party laying claim* to standing and not merely of general interest common to all members of the public.” *Sea Pines*, 550 S.E.2d at 291 (emphasis added); *see also Freemantle v. Preston*, 398 S.C. 186, 193, 728 S.E.2d 40, 43 (2012) (no constitutional standing when party only suffered in “some indefinite way in common with people generally”).

Here, Appellants face no imminent prejudice of a personal nature as a result of the 2011 Position Statement. Mrs. Joseph will not be punished or disciplined as a result of the Board’s interpretation of the PT Act in the 2011 Position Statement. The statement does not prohibit her from doing anything. Indeed, Mrs. Joseph actually benefits from the interpretation of the PT Act in the 2011 Position Statement. At her deposition, Mrs. Joseph admitted that she works in a group physical therapy practice and sometimes treats patients sent to her by another PT in her group who is on vacation, which is precisely the kind of “coverage” that the Amended Complaint asserts is unlawful. *See* Def.-Intervenors’ Resp. in Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J. at 2, citing K. Joseph Dep. 18:4-9,

26:10-15 (R. p. 212). The 2011 Position Statement's interpretation of the PT Act merely permits Mrs. Joseph to continue accepting compensation from her group practice without violating § 40-45-110(A)(1)—hardly an injury.

Drs. Joseph and McCarthy are neither PTs nor PTAs. The 2011 Position Statement does not apply to them and certainly causes them no imminent prejudice of a personal nature. Any purported prejudice the physician Appellants claim to have suffered would be akin to that of a member of the general public—a bystander—and thus not sufficiently “personal” to confer standing. *See Sea Pines*, 345 S.C. at 600-01, 550 S.E.2d at 291; *Freemantle*, 398 S.C. at 193, 728 S.E.2d at 43-44.

Further, none of the Appellants has any objection to PTs in a group practice covering for other PTs. *See* T. Joseph Dep. 58:8-24 (R. p. 649); McCarthy Dep. 28:15-22 (R. p. 657). Indeed, Mrs. Joseph admits she covers for other PTs (and vice versa) in her own group practice. *See* Board's Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J. at 17, citing K. Joseph Dep. 42:2-8 (R. p. 198). Because they face no disciplinary action from the Board, have requested no disciplinary action from the Board, and have no complaint about PTs covering for other PTs, Appellants' issue with the 2011 Position Statement is purely abstract. Lacking injury, Appellants have no standing.

2. Appellants cannot establish any causal connection.

Appellants have made it clear that their real issue is with *Sloan*, not the 2011 Position Statement. It is the PT Act, as construed in *Sloan*, that prohibits Mrs. Joseph from working for physicians and prohibits Drs. Joseph and McCarthy from employing PTs, not the 2011 Position Statement. Appellants have not—and cannot—establish any causal connection between the 2011 Position Statement and their supposed injury. They

thus lack standing. *See, e.g., Bailey v. S.C. Dep't of Health*, 388 S.C. 1, 6-7, 693 S.E.2d 426, 429-30 (Ct. App. 2010) (affirming ruling that party lacked legal standing where there was no causal connection).

3. Appellants cannot obtain any relief from a declaration regarding the 2011 Position Statement.

Similarly, no judicial declaration regarding the 2011 Position Statement or the interpretation of the PT Act therein will give Appellants relief from the legal restriction of which they complain—namely that PTs may not work for referring physicians. Even if the Court issued the requested declaration invalidating the 2011 Position Statement, the PT Act still would prohibit Mrs. Joseph from working for physicians or physician groups, and the PT Act still would prohibit the physician Appellants from employing PTs. The only foreseeable consequence for Appellants of a ruling in their favor on their claims regarding the 2011 Position Statement would be that Mrs. Joseph would lose her job in her group physical therapy practice, which hardly would constitute “relief.” Because the requested judicial declaration concerning the 2011 Position Statement would not provide the Appellants with any actual relief,¹⁰ Appellants have presented a purely abstract dispute—one that they lack standing to bring. *See Pee Dee Elec. Co-op., Inc. v. Carolina Power & Light Co.*, 279 S.C. 64, 66, 301 S.E.2d 761 (1983).

B. The Circuit Court Properly Held That Appellants’ Proposed Interpretation of “Referral” Contravenes Legislative Intent and Would Produce Damaging and Unintended Results.

Even if Appellants had standing to challenge the 2011 Position Statement, their challenges would be futile. Appellants contend that transitions in the treatment of

¹⁰ While Appellants may be unhappy with the Board’s interpretation of the PT Act, this, in and of itself, does not amount to a justiciable controversy. *See Tourism Expenditure Review Comm. v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 403 S.C. 76, 82, 742 S.E.2d 371, 374 (2013).

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